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stances when the provision would foreclose any review because a
serious constitutional issue would be raised if 42 U.S.C. § 405(h) was
constructed to deny, rather than delay, judicial review of constitu-
tional claims.’’’ Moreover, the Court rejected the proposition that
Bowen created a new rule that 42 U.S.C. § 405(h) only applied to
amount determinations because it would overrule Salfi and Ringer.*?
The Court opined that if it had planned to overrule these cases in Bo-
wen, then it would have said so in its opinion.*'* The difference be-
tween Salfi, Ringer, and Bowen is the difference between postpone-
ment of review (Salfi and Ringer) and total preclusion (Bowen)."*
Consequently, the Court reviewed the Council’s claims to ascertain
whether the regulations would prevent any judicial review, and thus
whether the Bowen exception applied.

The Council argued that HHS’s application of its channeling
provision to the portion of the Medicare statute and regulations
governing nursing home hearings amounted to the “practical
equivalent of a total denial of judicial review.”*"” According to the
Council, nursing homes were granted access to the special review
process only when termination was imposed, not when the Secretary
imposed any other remedy.’’® The Secretary asserted that any
“dissatisfied” nursing home was entitled to have reviewed any
determination that it failed to comply substantially with the statute,
agreements, or regulations, regardless of the remedy imposed during
the normal hearing process.”’’’ The Court deferred to the Secretary’s
interpretation because it was reasonable.’'®

The Council also argued that under 42 C.F.R. § 498 3(b)(12),
unless a remedy was imposed, no hearing was granted.’”® If no rem-
edy was imposed, then a nursing home could fail to complete a plan of
correction; however, the Secretary could then terminate the facility
from Medicare participation.’** No facility would risk termination to
bring a constitutional challenge, so these regulations precluded federal
review. The Council contended that this was unconstitutional because

M 14 at 18-19.

M2 17 at 17-18.

313 Id

39 14 at 19,

315 1d. at 22 (citing McNary v. Haitian Refugee Ctr., Inc., 498 U.S. 479, 497
(1991)).

36 14 at 21.

317 Id,

318 14 at 21 (citing Chevron U.S.A., Inc v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc.,
467U S. 837, 843 (1984)).

¥ 1d at21.

30 14 at 21.
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the findings are used in later surveys as a means for harsh remedies
and are posted on the Internet.’*' The Secretary summarily denied
these practices and asserted that only minor penalties would be im-
posed for failing to submit a plan of correction.”? The Secretary also
stated that HHS does not “cause providers to suffer more severe pen-
alties in later enforcement actions based on findings that are unre-
viewable,” but conceded that the findings of noncompliance remain
on the Internet with a place for the nursing home to post a reply.*?

Based on the Secretary’s representations of the HHS hearing
process for nursing homes, the Court reasoned that the HHS hearing
process would not absolutely bar nursing homes from obtaining judi-
cial review.”* Although the Court found that the language of the stat-
ute and 42 C.F.R. § 498.3 was not free from ambiguity,”> the Secre-
tary’s interpretation that nursing homes were permitted to a hearing
for findings of noncompliance regardless of the imposition of a rem-
edy was reasonable and legally permissible.*® The Council also chal-
lenged the regulatory procedures that prevented challenges to the level
of nursing noncompliance or imposition of penalty.’”’ Because the
-Council brought this suit as a preemptory challenge to the regulations
it was unable to provide specific facts to rebut the Secretary’s
claims.*”® The Court noted, however, that even if in individual cases
the process resulted in a denial of judicial review, the Bowen excep-
tion was based on preclusion of review for an entire industry rather
than the hardship of just one individual.”® In cases in which the hard-
ship was not industry wide, the Court deferred to the agency process
because it provides the agency opportunity to “apply, interpret, or
revise policies, regulations, or statutes without possibly premature
interference by different individual courts applying ‘ripeness’ and
‘exhaustion’ exceptions [on a] case by case [basis,]” but the agency
can waive steps in the process to reach federal court or the court can
“deem them waived in certain circumstances . . . even though the
agency technically holds no ‘hearing’ on the claim.”**°

2! Id. at 21-22. See also 42 C.F.R. § 498.3(b)(12) (2005).

32 [1I. Council, 529 U.S. at 22.

23 Jd (citation omitted).

24 Id. at 23-24.

325 See 42 C.F.R. §§ 498.3(b)(12), 498.1(a)-(b).

326 11l Council, 529 U.S. at 21.

7 Id. at 23-24.

328 Id at 51 (Thomas, J., dissenting).

9 Id at 22. Individual hardship is addressed by excusing steps in the chan-
neling process once the individual has presented the case to the agency, which is
nonwaivable and nonexcusable. Id. at 22-23.

30 Id at 13, 24 (“holding that Secretary’s decision not to challenge the suffi-



2006] A RIGHT TO NO MEANINGFUL REVIEW 765

The Court’s decision in JII. Council limited the application of the
Bowen exception to section 405(h) cases in which there was no
agency hearing process. Thus, because Medicare regulations man-
dated a hearing process for a nursing home challenging deficiencies,
the nursing home had to present its case to HHS and receive a final
agency ruling before submitting a case in federal court. Currently,
HHS is not complying with the mandated hearing process of the
Medicare regulations. Specifically, the Secretary’s interpretation of
the regulations that govern the nursing home hearing process, upon
which the Court relied, was never adopted by the agency.**! Nursing
homes do not have the right to appeal determinations of noncompli-
ance unless a certain remedy is imposed, although they are deprived
of Medicare payments in later actions based of these findings.**
Moreover, the Secretary does not grant nursing homes access to a full
evidentiary hearing, thereby leaving nursing homes without the pro-
cedural due process rights that the Court relied upon in its ruling.
These violations could be resolved if nursing homes could challenge
the constitutionality of these practices. Only the federal courts have
jurisdiction to hear these issues. However, nursing homes cannot
bring these actions to federal court because of the Supreme Court’s
decision in [ll. Council. Nursing homes are barred by 42 U.S.C. §§
405(g) and (h) from seeking federal court review unless the nursing
home presented that case to HHS and received a final ruling. HHS
summarily dismisses these cases without issuing a final ruling. The
finality requirement is. waivable if there would be no further meaning-
ful review,”® but HHS will not waive this requirement. Thus, the
Court effectively barred nursing homes from any meaningful review.

IV. THE REALITY OF NURSING HOME HEARINGS
AFTER ILL. COUNCIL: A RIGHT TO NO MEANINGFUL
REVIEW, THROUGH WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS

In 7ll. Council, the Secretary stated that any nursing home dissat-
isfied with noncompliance findings had a right to a hearing.*** The

ciency of the appellees’ exhaustion was in effect a determination that the agency had
rendered a ‘final decision’ within the meaning of § 405(g)” (citing Weinberger v.
Salfi, 422 U.S. 749, 763-67 (1975))). See also Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319,
330-32 (1976) (invoking practical conception of finality to conclude that collateral
nature of claim and potential irreparable injury from delayed review satisfy the “final
decision” requirement of § 405(g)).

31 See Ill. Council, 529 U.S. at 21.

332 Id

333 See Salfi, 422 U.S. at 763-67; Eldridge, 424 U.S. at 330-32.

4 11l Council, 529 U.S. at 20.
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Secretary’s interpretations of the regulations in /Il Council, upon
which the Court relied in making its decision to bar nursing homes
from federal courts,*** are contrary to the statements made by the Sec-
retary when the Medicare regulations were promulgated in 1994.%%
Moreover, it is not what actually happens within the nursing home
hearing process.®*” Nursing homes are prevented from receiving any
evidentiary hearing unless HHS imposes appealable remedies or ter-
mination. Once a nursing home is granted a hearing, the hearing proc-
ess is so limited that there is no meaningful review of claims. The
ALJs have begun to limit the hearing process to written direct testi-
mony and in-person cross-examination when there are no material
facts in dispute. This is contrary to the Medicare Act and regulations,
the Congressional intent of the Medicare Act and regulations, and the
rules of section 554 of the APA. Hence, as the Council argued in /11
Council, the prohibition of federal review of constitutional challenges
prior to presentment and final ruling by HHS amounts to the “practi-
cal equivalent of a total denial of judicial review™*® because federal
courts never review these violations.

A. The Right to No Meaningful Review

When HHS finds a nursing home out of compliance with Medi-
care but does not impose a remedy, it does not provide a hearing to
challenge the noncompliance findings.** According to HHS, these

35 1d. at21.

336 See generally 59 Fed. Reg. 56158 (Nov. 10, 1994).

37 ALJs summarily dismiss nursing home appeals in Medicare noncompli-
ance cases when HHS has not imposed a remedy. See Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No.
1607 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 1997) (final determination); Jacinto City
Healthcare Cir., DAB No. CR627 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 1999); Heritage
Manor of Franklinton, DAB No. CR666 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000);
Lutheran Home — Caledonia, DAB No. CR674 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
2000) (initial determination); Lakewood Plaza Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR691 (Dep’t
of Health & Human Servs. 2000); Lakeland Lodge Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR893
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002); Southwood Care Ctr., DAB No. CR1029
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2003); Highlands at Brighton, DAB No. CR1104
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2003); Manorcare Health Servs. Sandia, DAB No.
CR1255 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004).

3% 1. Council, 529 U.S. at 20 (citing McNary v. Haitian Refugee Center Inc.,
498 U.S. 479, 497 (1991)).

339 42 CF.R. §§ 488.330(c)(3), 498.3(b)(13) (2005). Nursing homes have a
right to challenge any findings of noncompliance at an informal dispute resolution
(IDR) process. 42 C.F.R. § 488.331(2). This process is conducted by the state. The
IDR process does not provide meaningful review because any decision made during
the process is merely a recommendation to CMS. It is within CMS’s discretion
whether or not to adopt IDR decisions. If CMS choose not to accept the findings of



2006] A RIGHT TO NO MEANINGFUL REVIEW 767

unreviewable noncompliance findings do not deprive nursing homes
of property or cause harm.**® Contrary to HHS’s belief, this practice
does deprive nursing homes of property, a violation of the Fifth
Amendment, and it causes nursing homes financial and reputation
harm, a violation of the Medicare Act. Moreover, the fact that HHS
denies nursing homes a right to a hearing directly contradicts the
statements made by the Secretary in /Il. Council.

1. Constitutional Violation

In Goldberg, the Supreme Court ruled that the deprivation of
property by an administrative agency required due process of law.**!
According to the Court, due process of law meant that individuals be
granted a right to a hearing when deprived of a constitutionally pro-
tected right, namely a right to property.>*? Nursing homes found out of
compliance with the Medicare Act and regulations not provided with a
hearing are deprived of property even though no remedy is imposed.

These disputed factual findings serve as the basis for the imposi-
tion of remedies for future incidents of noncompliance.** HHS regu-
larly uses these findings of noncompliance that are not adjudicated for
future actions as mandated by the federal regulations.>* In fact, ac-
cording to 42 C.F.R. § 488.404, HHS is mandated to consider the
nursing home’s history of noncompliance in determining which reme-
dies to irnpose.345 Moreover, 42 C.F.R. § 488.438 requires HHS to
consider a facility’s history of noncompliance and any repeat defi-
ciencies when determining the amount of civil money penalty it will
impose.**® HHS also uses the findings to determine Medicare fraud
and abuse claims, which result in the loss of Medicare payments and
substantial fines.**’ There is no opportunity to challenge the facts un-
derlying these unreviewable claims at a hearing.**® Therefore, HHS’s
practices are depriving nursing homes of the property of Medicare

the state there is still no appeal process. -

0 11l Council, 529 U.S. at 22.

3 Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 270 (1970).

M2 gy

M3 See 42 C.F.R. § 488.438(f). ,

3 42 CF.R. § 488.438(f). See also Arcadia Acres, Inc, DAB No. CR887
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002) (remedies determination).

345 See 42 C.F.R. § 488.404(b)(2).

36 42 C.F.R. § 488.438.

7 Krause, supra note 16, at 55. See also Publication of the OIG Compliance
Program Guidance for Nursing Facilities, 65 Fed. Reg. 14289, 14295 n.49 (Mar. 16,
2000).

8 See Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR887 (Dept’ Health & Human Servs.
2002) (remedies determination).
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payments without any form of a hearing, violating the Fifth Amend-
ment. Not only does this violate the Due Process of Clause of the
Fifth Amendment, but it also contravenes the rights granted under the
Medicare Act because it causes the nursing home injury.

2. Violation of Medicare

The Medicare Act grants hearing rights to nursing homes to the
same extent as Social Security beneficiaries have when challenging
denial of benefits.**® What this means is difficult to understand, but
the meaning was made clear with the Secretary’s interpretation in the
Medicare regulations. Published in 1994, the final Medicare regula-
tions currently governing compliance for nursing homes addressed the
issue of whether a nursing home has a right to a hearing when no rem-
edy is imposed. Specifically, the comments from the nursing home
industry and response from the Secretary stated:

Comment: Several commenters wanted a right to appeal all
deficiencies, even if no remedy was imposed.

Response: We are not accepting this suggestion because if no
remedy is imposed, the provider has suffered no injury calling
for an appeal. We agree that deficiencies that constitute non-
compliance and that result in a remedy imposed are appeal-
able (except for minor remedies such as State monitoring).**

Beginning in 1996, HHS attorneys filed Motions to Dismiss in Medi-
care compliance cases where the remedy imposed had been re-
scinded.®" From 1996 to 2004, six cases were dismissed by ALJs
because a nursing home did not have a right to a hearing under the

39 42 U.S.C.A § 405(g) (West 2005); 42 U.S.C.A. § 1395cc(h)(1)(A) (West
2005).

330 59 Fed. Reg. 56158 (Nov. 10, 1994) (emphasis added).

3! See Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. 1607 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (final determination); Jacinto City Healthcare Cir., DAB No. CR627 (Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. 1999); Heritage Manor of Franklinton, DAB No. CR666
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000); Lutheran Home — Caledonia, DAB No.
CR674 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000) (initial determination); Lakewood
Plaza Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR691 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000) (initial
determination); Lakeland Lodge Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR893 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2002); Southwood Care Ctr., DAB No. CR1029 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2003); Highlands at Brighton, DAB No. CR1104 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2003); Manorcare Health Servs. Sandia, DAB No. CR1255 (Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. 2004).
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regulations if no remedy was imposed because there was no injury.**>
The first case decided by HHS on this issue was 4rcadia Acres, Inc. v.
HCFA>>

In Arcadia Acres, the nursing home challenged findings of non-
compliance based on surveys conducted on November 21, 1995 and
January 18, 1996.3* HHS sent Arcadia Acres a letter on March 4,
1996, imposing the remedy of denial of payments for new admissions,
which HHS rescinded on April 1, 1996.%*° Arcadia Acres timely filed
its hearing request, but the ALJ granted HHS’s Motion to Dismiss.**®
HHS asserted that the 42 C.F.R. § 498.3(b)(13)**" of the Medicare
regulations only provided a nursing home a right to a hearing once a
remedy was imposed.*”® Arcadia Acres contended that HHS would
use these noncompliance findings to determine the amount of penal-
ties for future noncompliance findings.” Arcadia Acres asked the
ALJ to proceed “to a hearing on the findings of deficiencies in order
to protect against ‘injustice’ resulting from unjust and inadequate sur-
vey results [ ] and because, ‘[i]f not in the instant appeal, where else
will Arcadia Acres have a forum?”*® To resolve the case, the ALJ
referred to the Secretary’s response during the notice and comment

32 See Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. 1607 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (final determination); Jacinto City Healthcare Ctr., DAB No. CR627 (Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. 1999); Heritage Manor of _Franklinton, DAB No. CR666
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000); Lutheran Home - Caledonia, DAB No.
CR674 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000) (initial determination); Lakewood
Plaza Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR691 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000) (initial
determination); Lakeland Lodge Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR893 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2002); Southwood Care Ctr., DAB No. CR1029 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2003); Highlands at Brighton, DAB No. CR1104 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2003); Manorcare Health Servs. Sandia, DAB No. CR1255 (Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. 2004).
33 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1996) (initial determination).
3% Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).
335 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).
36 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).
57 This section was redesignated as 498.3(b)(13) in 2000. See 65 Fed. Reg.
18549 (Apr. 7, 2000). Only the imposition of certain remedies grants the nursing
home agpeal rights. See 42 C.F.R. § 498.3(b)(13) (2005).
8 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).
3% Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).
: 360 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).
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period of the Medicare regulations that nursing homes do not receive
a hearing when no remedy is imposed because there is no injury.*
The ALJ ruled in favor of HHS because when promulgating the com-
pliance regulations the Secretary specifically rejected the claim that
any dissatisfied nursing home had a right to appeal noncompliance
findings unless a remedy was imposed.”®

Contrary to the ALJ’s holding in Arcadia Acres, this practice is
not speculative and does cause nursing homes injury, reputation, and
financial harm. Although no remedy is imposed, the allegations of
noncompliance remain posted on the Internet.*®® The findings are also
reported to the nursing home ombudsman, the physicians and skilled
nursing facility administration licensing board, and the State Medicaid
fraud and abuse control units.*®* This information is used by Con-
sumer Reports to publish a report on poor-performing nursing
homes.*®> As part of the public record, these findings harm the reputa-
tion of the facility. No patient wants to stay in a nursing home with a
bad compliance record. It also causes financial harm. The findings are
used to impose hasher remedies if there are future violations of the
Medicare compliance regulations®® and can be used to support Medi-
care fraud and abuse claims.*®” Insurance companies also use the in-
formation to determine yearly insurance premiums for nursing
homes.**® Hence, nursing homes are harmed by the denial of a right to
challenge noncompliance findings when no remedy is imposed. Fur-
thermore, without a right to a hearing to challenge this harm, nursing

361 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (initial determination).(citing 59 Fed. Reg. 56158 (Nov. 10 1994).

32 Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1996) (initial determination). The ALJ further held that the possibility of HHS impos-
ing sanctions against the facility in the future on the basis of its findings of noncom-
pliance was speculative and outside any definition of “initial determination™ entitling
the facility to a hearing under 42 C.F.R. §§ 498.3(b)(13) & (d) and 488.330(e)(3).
Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. CR424 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 1996) (initial
determination).

363 See Medicare.gov, Nursing Home Compare, http://www.medicare.gov/
NHComé)are/Home‘asp (last visited Mar. 20, 2005).

364 42 US.CA. § 1395i-3(g)(5) (West 2005). The information remains posted
until the next annual survey is conducted.

365 See Consumer Reports, 2004 Nursing Home Watch List (by state), May 3,
2005, http://www.consumerreports.org (search “2004 Nursing Home Watch List™;
then follow the first link).

366 42 C.F.R. §§ 488.404, 488.438 (2005).

37 Krause, supra note 16, at 95-98.

368 Currently in many states, such as Texas, Florida and Illinois, many nursing
homes are forced to operate without insurance or go out of business because insur-
ance companies are unwilling to offer nursing homes with less than perfect compli-
ance histories reasonable insurance rates. See Anderson, supra note 42. at 21A.
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homes cannot seek federal review of this unconstitutional practice
based on the Supreme Court’s decision in IIl. Council.*®

3. The Secretary’s Statements in /I, Council

Six years after the promulgation of the Medicare regulations and
four years after the decision in Arcadia Acres, the Secretary inter-
preted the Medicare Act to include a right to a hearing regardless of
whether a remedy was imposed.’’® When the Supreme Court asked the
Secretary in /ll. Council what hearing rights were afforded nursing
homes under Medicare, the Secretary stated that any “dissatisfied”
nursing home was entitled to review any determination that it “failed
to comply substantially with the statute, agreements, or regulations,
whether termination or some other remedy [was] imposed.””" Based
on this interpretation, the Supreme Court ruled that nursing homes had
to present their case first to HHS and receive a final ruling because
HHS’s administrative review process did provide meaningful review
of claims.’” This practice of HHS does bar the entire industry from
obtaining review, because no nursing home has the right to adminis-
trative or federal review if a remedy is not imposed. A case presented
to HHS is summarily dismissed without the issuance of a final ruling,
barring nursing homes from federal review under JII. Council >

Hence, the nursing home industry should be allowed to bring
cases in federal court for review without having to present claims to
HHS and receiving a final ruling from HHS, because just like the phy-
sicians in Bowen, the nursing home industry has been left without
access to any meaningful review. Even when nursing homes are af-
forded a hearing, the hearing process conducted is minimal at best. In
fact, the actual hearing process has been limited to the submission of

3% Shalala v. Tll. Council on Long Term Care, Inc. (/. Council), 529 U.S. 1,
22-23 (2000).

37 See Arcadia Acres, Inc., DAB No. 1607 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
1997) (final determination); Jacinto City Healthcare Cir., DAB No. CR627 (Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. 1999); Heritage Manor of Franklinton, DAB No. CR666
(Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000); Lutheran Home — Caledonia, DAB No.
CR674 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000) (initial determination); Lakewood
Plaza Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR691 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2000) (initial
determination); Lakeland Lodge Nursing Ctr., DAB No. CR893 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2002); Southwood Care Cir., DAB No. CR1029 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2003); Highlands at Brighton, DAB No. CR1104 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2003); Manorcare Health Servs. Sandia, DAB No. CR1255 (Dep’t of
Health & Human Servs. 2004).
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all direct testimony through affidavits and in-person cross-
examination.”” Although the current Medicare regulations that grant
nursing homes procedural due process guarantee a right to a full evi-
dentiary hearing on the record,’”” ALJs of HHS have seemingly re-
verted back to the “informal hearing” process used by HHS in 1986,
without any formal change in the rules.

B. Full Evidentiary Hearings through Written Submission

Beginning in 2002, some of the eight ALJ’s decided to reconsider
what 42 C.F.R. § 498 meant when it said a full and fair hearing must
be conducted.’’® Three of the ALJs began to require that all direct
testimony of witnesses be submitted through written submissions,
only allowing the participants to cross-examine witnesses at their full
evidentiary hearing.’”’ These ALJs imposed requirements even though
in each case there were issues of material fact in dispute. Now direct
testimony is submitted in the form of affidavits.’’® The affidavits do
not include questions that the witness was asked and there is no means
by which parties can object to the statements made in the affidavits.*”
The ALJs, employees of HHS, made this modification without issuing
any new rulings, regulations, or policy memos justifying this

3™ For Initial Hearing Orders that provide a full evidentiary hearing with in-
person direct testimony, compare DAB No. C-00-438 (Dep’t of Health & Human
Servs. 2000) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with
author), DAB No. C-02-172 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002) (initial pre-
hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), DAB No. C-05-
404 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s
name concealed) (on file with author), and DAB No. C-06-189 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2006) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file
with author), with Initial Hearing Orders that require written direct testimony in lieu
of in-person testimony, DAB No. C-04-401 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004)
(initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), and
DAB No. C-05-445 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing
order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

73 See 42 C.F.R. §§ 498.60, 498.62, 498.66 (2005).

6 According to 42 C.F.R. § 498, which governs the hearing process, in-
person witness testimony is a required element of the nursing home hearing. 42
C.F.R. § 498.62. In fact, the regulations state that witnesses will testify at the in-
person hearing, without any mention that this testimony is limited to cross-
examination. 42 C.F.R. § 498.62.

" See DAB No. C-04-401 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004) (initial
pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author); DAB No. C-
05-445 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order) (peti-
tioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

7% See DAB No. C-04-401; DAB No. C-05-445.

" See DAB No. C-04-401; DAB No. C-05-445.
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change.’®® These changes are arbitrarily applied—not all ALJs prevent
in-court testimony’®'—and directly contradict the Constitution, the
plain language of the statute and regulations governing nursing home
hearings, and the APA **

1. Constitutional Violation

In Eldridge, the Supreme Court ruled that the amount of proce-
dural due process required by the Constitution to be provided when
individuals were deprived of property was proportionate to the harm
suffered.®® To evaluate what process was due, the Court reviewed
three factors: (1) the risk of erroneous deprivation of such interest and
the reduction of risk, if any, from the addition of procedural safe-
guards; (2) the private interest that was affected by the official action;
and (3) the government’s interest, including the fiscal and administra-
tive burdens that the additional or substitute procedures would en-
tail.*® In applying these three factors in Eldridge, the Court found that
a post-termination hearing held in front of an ALJ with in-person wit-
ness testimony was sufficient process.

When Eldridge is applied to the arbitrary decision of three of the
eight ALJs to hold partial or informal hearings for nursing homes to
challenge noncompliance findings, it is clear that this practice does
not provide nursing homes with the process proportionate to their
harm for two reasons. First, the hearing process used by HHS in FI-
dridge was standard. It did not change from one ALJ to the next.’®
The uniformity of the process was significant because the Court found
that it reduced the risk of erroneous deprivation of disability payments
and thus additional procedural safeguards were not necessary.”® The

30 See DAB No. C-04-401; DAB No. C-05-445; 42 C.FR. §§ 498.60,
498.62, 498.66 (2005).

381 For Initial Hearing Orders that provide a full evidentiary hearing with in-
person direct testimony, see DAB No. C-00-438 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
2000) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author);
DAB No. C-02-172 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002) (initial pre-hearing
order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author); DAB No. C-05-404 (Dep’t
of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name con-
cealed) (on file with author); DAB No. C-06-189 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs.
2006) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

382 See 42 C.F.R. §§ 498.60, 498.62, 498.66. See also Dep’t Appeals Board,
Civil Remedies Division, Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Procedures (providing
hearing grocedures for the Civil Remedies Division of the DAB) (on file with author).

3% See Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976).

3% Id. at 335.

3% Id. at 340, 343.

3% Id. at 345, 349.



774 HEALTH MATRIX [Vol. 16:723

Medicare compliance hearing process for nursing homes is not stan-
dard. Nursing homes are subject to the whims of the ALJ. Some allow
a full evidentiary hearing, while others only allow in-person cross-
examination.*®’ This random process does not reduce the risk of the
erroneous deprivation of Medicare payments. In fact, it actually in-
creases the risk of erroneous deprivation. There are no means by
which a nursing home can challenge the assertions made by HHS wit-
nesses in their affidavits. So the information is placed in the record.

Additionally, ALJs cannot make credibility decisions based on
written testimony and not every witness is called for cross-
examination. Without hearing the direct testimony of witnesses at an
in-person hearing, an ALJ’s ability to determine the veracity and
credibility of the witness is limited to a few questions on cross-
examination and rebuttal.’®® If the only testimony heard from the
witness is an answer of “yes” and “no,” which is usually the only
testimony elicited on cross-examination, ALJs will not be able to
reasonably determine the veracity and the credibility of each witness.
Without first determining the veracity and credibility of the witness, it
will be impossible for ALJs to assign the proper relevance and weight
to each of the witness’s testimony. Because there are genuine issues of
material of fact and no admissions of fact in all cases, it is simply not
enough that the submissions of direct testimony will be in the form of
an affidavit. ALJs must hear witnesses’ entire testimony to determine
the credibility of each witness and the weight of all the evidence
presented to resolve the disputed issues of material fact.

Second, the Court in Eldridge found that the harm suffered by
Eldridge was minimal because Eldridge could sustain himself by
applying for welfare during the reconsideration process.*® Therefore,
Eldridge’s interest in the continuation of his disability benefits was

7 Compare Initial Hearing Orders that provide a full evidentiary hearing
with in-person direct testimony, DAB No. C-00-438 (Dep’t of Health & Human
Servs. 2000) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with
author), DAB No. C-02-172 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002) (initial pre-
hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), DAB No. C-05-
404 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s
name concealed) (on file with author), and DAB No. C-06-189 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2006) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file
with author), with Initial Hearing Orders that require written direct testimony in lieu
of in-person testimony, DAB No. C-04-401 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004)
(initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), and
DAB No. C-05-445 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing
order) (g)etitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

% This assumes that the witness will be cross-examined at the hearing.

3% Eldridge, 424 U.S. at 340.
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outweighed by the govermment’s fiscal interests in protecting the
Treasury against erroneous payments and administrative burdens that
the additional or substitute procedures would entail.**® In the case of
nursing home hearings, the government is not protecting its fiscal
interests by denying nursing homes a right to a full evidentiary
hearing. HHS is not protecting its fiscal interests by not granting a full
evidentiary hearing because once remedies are imposed they continue
to incur until the completion of the case, which can range several
years. Moreover, the three ALJs are no more administratively
burdened by providing a full evidentiary hearing than the five other
ALIJs that currently provide a hearing. Nursing homes, however, are
harmed from the limitation of their hearing rights because they are not
afforded a meaningful chance to challenge the remedy imposed or the
noncompliance findings. If the ALJ affirms the imposition of a
remedy imposed, nursing homes do not have any safety net system
from which to draw money. Therefore, the interests of the nursing
home to protect its financial solvency are greater than the need of
three ALJs to streamline the hearing process.

The Supreme Court ruled that the amount of procedural due proc-
ess an individual received was based on three factors: (1) the risk of
the erroneous deprivation of such interest and the reduction of risk, if
any, from the addition of procedural safeguards; (2) the individual’s
interest; and (3) the government’s interest in protecting financial sol-
vency of the Treasury.”®' When these factors are applied to the limita-
tions placed on nursing home compliance hearings by three ALJs the
process provided is not enough. The use of affidavits is not a standard
agency practice and was only implemented by three ALJs for judicial
economy. But this practice increases the risk of erroneous deprivation
because ALJs cannot make credibility decisions based on written tes-
timony essential to fact driven cases. Furthermore, this practice does
not protect the government’s financial or administrative interests. No
money or time is saved by the ALJs using this system because they
still must review all the affidavits to make a decision. However, nurs-
ing homes are harmed by the practice because they do not receive a
full evidentiary hearing in which they are able to challenge the factual
. findings of HHS. Thus, the ALJs must give nursing homes a full evi-
dentiary hearing to comply with the requirements of the Fifth
Amendment. The actions of the ALJs also violate the plain language
of the Medicare Act and regulations that provide for a full evidentiary
hearing with oral direct testimony.

30 1d. at 348,
¥ 1d. at 335.
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2. Violation of Plain Language of Medicare Act and Regulations

Section 1395cc(h)(1)(A) of the Medicare Act mandates that nurs-
ing homes be granted the same hearing rights provided under section
405(b) of the Social Security Act.*** Section 405(b) guarantees a right
to:

[R]easonable notice and opportunity for a hearing with re-
spect to such decision. . . . In the course of any hearing, inves-
tigation, or other proceeding, the Commissioner may adminis-
ter oaths and affirmations, examine witnesses, and receive
evidence.”®?

This was further codified in the Medicare regulations.*®* According to
42 C.F.R. § 498.60, the ALJ must inquire fully into all matters at issue
and receive into evidence the testimony of witnesses and any docu-
ments that are relevant and material at the in-person hearing.**
Clearly, this means that witnesses are required to present their entire
testimony at the in-person hearing, because the regulation does not
distinguish between direct- or cross-examination of witnesses. This
regulation further states that the ALJ decides the order in which the
evidence and the arguments of the parties are presented and the con-
duct of the hearing.**® Although ALJs may decide the conduct of the
hearing, this authority is limited by 42 C.F.R. § 498.62, which gov-
erns witness’s testimony.”®’ The regulation states:

The representative of each party is permitted to examine his
or her own witnesses subject to interrogation by the represen-
tative of the other party. The ALJ may ask any questions that
he or she deems necessary. The ALJ rules upon any objection
made by either party as to the propriety of any question.””®

Therefore, according to 42 C.F.R. § 498.62, a witness’s entire testi-
mony shall be given at the in-person hearing so that the ALJ may ask
questions and rule upon objections.

2 See 42 U.S.C.A. § 1395cc(h)(1)(A) (West 2005).

3 42 US.C.A. § 405(b)(1) (West 2005). Section 1395cc(h)(1)(A) incorpo-
rates sections 405(b), (g), and (h) applicable to the Medicare Act. The Medicare Act
grants nursing homes the right to a hearing to the same extent as 42 U.S.C. § 405(b),
(g). See 42 U.S.C. § 1395cc(h)(1)(A).

34 See 42 C.F.R. §§ 498.60, 498.62, 498.66 (2005).

3%5 42 C.F.R. § 498.60.

3% 42 C.F.R. § 498.60.

*7 42 C.F.R. § 498.60.

3% 42 C.F.R. § 498.62 (emphasis added).
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If direct testimony is in the form of an affidavit, the ALJ will not
be able to ask timely questions regarding the witness’s testimony
which may serve to clarify some disputed issues of material fact. Fur-
thermore, because the questions asked of witnesses never appear in
their affidavit, the opportunity for parties to make objections “to the
propriety of any question” as required by 42 C.F.R. § 498.62 is non-
existent. Instead of being granted the opportunity to keep inadmissible
statements out of evidence, parties are limited to filing broad motions
to strike witness statements, requiring the ALJ to review the statement
and then determine its admissibility. Moreover, the submission of
direct testimony through affidavits violates the requirements of 42
C.F.R. §498.66.

According to 42 C.F.R. § 498.66, a party must file a written
waiver of the right to appear and present evidence to waive its right to
an oral hearing.*®® In fact, 42 C.F.R. § 498.66 states that an oral hear-
ing must be conducted unless “an affected party wishes to waive its
right to appear and present evidence at the hearing” by filing “a writ-
ten waiver with the ALJ.”*® Even when a nursing home has not sub-
mitted a written waiver of its right to appear and present evidence,
ALJs are implementing these policies.*”’ This contravenes the plain
meaning of the regulation, because in these cases there has been no
admission of fact by either party; thus, the ALJ must conduct an oral
hearing because it is “necessary to clarify the facts at issue.”*"* These
practices not only violate the plain language of the Medicare Act and
regulations,*® but they also violate the hearing provisions of the APA.

% 42 CF.R. § 498.66.

40 42 CF.R. § 498.66.

1 For Initial Hearing Orders that require written direct testimony in lieu of
in-person testimony, see DAB No. C-04-401 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004)
(initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author); DAB
No. C-05-445 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order)
(petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

402 47 CF.R. § 498.66.

03 When HHS wanted to limit an agency’s hearing process it was quite clear.
For example, when HHS created a hearing process for laboratories under the Clinical
Improvement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA) it specifically limited the rights of labora-
tories. See 42 C.F.R. § 488.201. CLIA made every laboratory in the country that tests
human specimens for health reasons subject to federal regulation regardless of
whether it participated in a government program or it tested specimens in interstate
commerce. See Granting and Withdrawal of Deeming Authority to Private Nonprofit
Accreditation Organizations and of CLIA Exemption Under State Laboratory Pro-
grams, 57 Fed. Reg. 33992 (Jul. 31, 1992). A laboratory dissatisfied with HHS’s
determination has a right to seek reconsideration regardless of whether a remedy has
been imposed. See 42 C.F.R. § 488.201. CLIA laboratories are given an informal
hearing in front of a hearing officer. 42 C.F.R. § 488.201. In addition, laboratories are
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3. Administrative Procedure Act Violation

Section 554 of the APA provides a hearing in every case of adju-
dication required by statute to be determined on the record.*** Before
section 554 of the APA can apply, the statute must clearly mandate a
hearing on the record. Moreover, the Supreme Court has “also implied
that formal adjudication procedures are only necessary when a statue
uses the magic words ‘on the record.”””*®® Thus, HHS is required to
provide nursing homes a right to a hearing if the Medicare statute pro-
vides a hearing on the record. The Sixth Circuit recently affirmed this
proposition in Crestview Parke Care Ctr. v. Thompson.*®

In Crestview, a skilled nursing home located in Ohio was sur-
veyed by the Ohio Department of Health on August 12, 1999, and
found out of compliance with the Medicare regulations.*”” The Ohio
Department of Health revisited the facility four times before finding
the facility in compliance on October 21, 1999.*® HHS imposed a
$400-a-day civil money penalty from October 5 to October 21.*”” On
December 30, 1999, Crestview sent a letter of appeal to an ALJ chal-
lenging the imposition of the $400-a-day civil money penalty and the
facts supporting the penalty.*'® Crestview and HHS participated in a
pre-hearing conference with the ALJ on September 10, 2001.*'" Sub-
sequently, the parties exchanged pre-hearing briefs. On December 12,
2001, the ALJ informed the parties that the case would be resolved

allowed to present witness testimony at the hearing. 42 C.F.R. § 488.205. Although
laboratories are afforded these rights, this process is only minimal compared to nurs-
ing home hearings. The process for laboratories is entitled “informal hearing” while
the process for nursing homes is called a “hearing.” See 42 C.F.R. § 488.205. Second,
the hearing process for laboratories is conducted in front of a hearing officer, while
nursing homes have the right to present evidence to an ALJ. See 42 C.F.R. §§
488.207, 498.5. Furthermore, laboratories are limited as to using authorized represen-
tatives and technical advisors witnesses, whereas, nursing homes are granted the
unlimited option of bringing to the hearing anyone whose “presence the ALJ consid-
ers necessary or proper.” 42 C.F.R. §§ 488.207(b)(1), 498.60. Hence, when HHS
wanted to limit the due process rights afforded in a hearing it stated so clearly in the
regulatlons governing laboratories.
% 51.8.C.A. § 554 (West 2005) (emphasis added).

495 Crestview Parke Care Ctr. v. Thompson, 373 F.3d 743, 748 (6th Cir. 2004)
(citing PBGC v. LTV Corp., 496 U.S. 633, 654-55 (1990) (affirming agency’s use of
informal hearing process without an oral hearing because statute did not require the
hearing to be on the record)).

05 Jd. at 743.

7 Id. at 744-45.

‘B 1d. at 745.

409 g

410 Id

411 Id.
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without an in-person hearing because there were no genuine issues of
material fact.*’* The ALJ ruled in favor of HHS and the DAB affirmed
the ALJ’s ruling.*’® Crestview appealed the case to the Sixth Circuit.

The Court ruled that nursing homes had a right to an in-person
hearing based on section 554 of the APA and the Medicare statute and
regulations.”'* The Court held that section 554 of the APA provided a
right to an in-person hearing if the statute required the agency to grant
an opportunity to be heard on the record*® Because section
1395cc(h)(1)(A) of the Medicare Act guaranteed nursing homes the
right to a hearing on the record with in-person witness testimony, the
Court held that Crestview was entitled to an in-person hearing.*'°
Even with this ruling, some ALIJs still limit the hearing to in-person
cross-examination.*'’

When nursing homes are granted a right to a hearing, some ALJs
are limiting the formal hearing process to written direct testimony and
in-person cross-examination.”'® Section 556 of the APA prevents the

‘12 1d. at 745-46.

3 Id. at 746.

1 Id. at 748.

415 Id

46 14, The court further noted that the Medicare regulations, 42 C.F.R. §§
498.3(a)(1), 488.330(e)(3(ii), 498.60-62, and 498.66 clearly provided nursing homes .
the right to an in person hearing. /d. at 749. For further discussion of these regulatory
requirements see supra Part IV.B.1.

47 Compare Initial Hearing Orders that provide a full evidentiary hearing
with in-person direct testimony, DAB No. C-00-438 (Dep’t of Health & Human
Servs. 2000) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with
author), DAB No. C-02-172 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002) (initial pre-
hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), DAB No. C-05-
404 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s
name concealed) (on file with author), and DAB No. C-06-189 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2006) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file
with author), with Initial Hearing Orders that require written direct testimony in lieu
of in-person testimony, DAB No. C-04-401 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004)
(initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), and
DAB No. C-05-445 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing
order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

418 Compare Initial Hearing Orders that provide a full evidentiary hearing
with in-person direct testimony, DAB No. C-00-438 (Dep’t of Health & Human
Servs. 2000) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with
author), DAB No. C-02-172 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2002) (initial pre-
hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), DAB No. C-05-
404 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s
name concealed) (on file with author), and DAB No. C-06-189 (Dep’t of Health &
Human Servs. 2006) (initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file
with author), with Initial Hearing Orders that require written direct testimony in leu

- of in-person testimony, DAB No. C-04-401 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2004)
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use of this informal hearing process. APA § 556 requires ALJs to pro-
vide for the exclusion of irrelevant, immaterial, and unduly repetitive
evidence and requires the presentation of evidence at an oral hear-
ing.*"® This section explicitly limits the intake of evidence to that
which is material to the case. Submitting affidavits for direct testi-
mony negates a nursing home’s right to object to hearsay or irrelevant,
immaterial, and unduly repetitive evidence. This allows HHS to to-
tally control the case because it will be able to submit surveyors’ writ-
ten direct testimony without allowing a nursing home to object to the
relevance or scope of the testimony.

There is no procedure in place for each party to object to state-
ments made in the written direct testimony of witnesses. Thus, if a
witness’ direct testimony is not given at an in-person hearing, a nurs-
ing home will not have an opportunity to object to HHS’s written
submissions or ask HHS witnesses about disputed facts not covered in
their direct testimony. Therefore, simply allowing HHS witnesses to
submit written direct testimony without the opportunity for objection
to hearsay or the relevance and scope of the testimony violates section
556 of the APA.**°

According to the Supreme Court, the Constitution provides an in-
dividual challenging the deprivation of property with a right to a hear-
ing.”! This hearing can take many forms; however, the type of hear-
ing granted is based on the risk of erroneous deprivation of property
and the dictates of the governing statute and regulations.*”* Nursing
homes are not granted a hearing before they are deprived of property,
namely Medicare payments. When no remedy is imposed, nursing
homes are summarily denied a hearing, even though they lose Medi-
care payments by a decrease in admission and Medicare fraud and
abuse actions. Furthermore, when nursing homes are granted a right to
a hearing, the hearing is so limited it increases the risk of the errone-
ous deprivation of Medicare payments.

Some ALJs have arbitrarily limited the hearing process to in-
person cross-examination directly contradicting the plain language of

(initial pre-hearing order) (petitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author), and
DAB No. C-05-445 (Dep’t of Health & Human Servs. 2005) (initial pre-hearing
order) (g)etitioner’s name concealed) (on file with author).

19 «“Any oral or documentary evidence may be received, but the agency as a
matter of policy shall provide for the exclusion of irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly
repetitious evidence.” 5 U.S.C.A. § 556(d) (West 2005).

20 Soe 5U.S.C.A. § 556.

2! See Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970); Mathews v. Eldridge, 424
U.S. 319, 319 (1976) (stating that the Due Process Clause provides individuals with a
right to a hearing when they are being deprived of a constitutionally protected right).

‘2 Eldridge, 424 U.S. at 334-35.
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the Medicare Act and regulations, the intent of the Medicare Act and
regulations, and the APA. This limitation does not allow for either the
evaluation of witness credibility or the exclusion of irrelevant, imma-
terial, and unduly repetitive evidence. These violations could be re-
solved if nursing homes could challenge the constitutionality of these
practices. HHS does not have the authority to rectify these constitu-
tional violations; the federal courts have sole and original jurisdiction
to hear these issues. However, nursing homes cannot bring these ac-
tions to federal court because of the Supreme Court’s decision in JI1
Council that nursing homes were prohibited by 42 U.S.C. §§ 405(g)
and (h) from seeking federal court review unless the nursing home
presented that case to HHS and received a final ruling. Thus, the
Court effectively barred nursing homes from any meaningful review.
Without access to federal court, the only solution for nursing homes is
to hope that HHS changes its policies.

C. Solutions

The denial of procedural due process is a violation of the Consti-
tution, the APA, and the Medicare Act and regulations. Unless HHS
imposes a remedy for findings of noncompliance, nursing homes are
denied access to a hearing. However, nursing homes are still deprived
of property through the imposition of later fines based on these unre-
viewable findings, Medicare fraud and abuse claims, and increased
insurance premiums. This situation could be resolved by the reversal
of Ill. Council. The Court’s decision in /ll. Council affirmed the
Medicare Act’s bar of federal review until a case had been presented
to HHS and a final ruling had been issued.*”* The Court ruled in this
manner because it relied on inaccurate statements of HHS that nursing
homes were provided with meaningful review.** In reality, HHS does
not grant nursing homes any review. Therefore, nursing homes should
have a right to challenge this practice in federal court without present-
ing the case to HHS. :

When nursing homes are granted a right to a hearing, HHS should
provide them with a full evidentiary hearing that includes witness
testimony as mandated by the Medicare Act and regulations.*”® This
will preserve fairness and due process in Medicare compliance hear-
ings. To ensure timely resolution of cases to protect the lives of nurs-
ing home residents and permit nursing homes an opportunity to pro-

423 Shalala v. Ill. Council on Long Term Care, Inc. (JI. Council), 529 U.S. 1,
12 (2000).

% Id, at 21.

23 42 CF.R. §§ 498.5, 498.60-66 (2005).
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tect their financial interests and reputation, HHS should also hire more
ALlJs to hear cases. If a nursing home is not afforded a hearing, then
HHS should post the facility’s hearing request on their website along
with their alleged non-compliance findings.

Finally, HHS should automatically waive the finality requirement
for constitutional challenges so that nursing homes can immediately
enter federal court. This would allow HHS to save time and money
bypassing menial debates concerning compliance when the nursing
home is only challenging the constitutionality of the procedures used.
The implementation of these solutions would not entail any additional
expense and would actually improve the system for the benefit of the
nursing homes as well as the residents. The timely resolution of nurs-
ing home compliance hearings ensures that instead of wasting time on
fight allegations of noncompliance, the nursing home can focus on the
quality of residents.

CONCLUSION

The fundamental requirement of due process is to be heard “at a
meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.”**® The failure of fed-
eral administrative agencies to provide the due process rights guaran-
teed by the agency’s governing statute, regulations, and policy state-
ments contravenes the protections guaranteed by the Due Process
Clause: the fundamental right of Americans regulated by the federal
government to receive due process of law when deprived of life, lib-
erty, or property. HHS’s limitation of nursing homes’ hearing rights is
one example of this contravention. Understandably, the money spent
by HHS justifies rigorous regulation of nursing homes to ensure that
residents receive quality care. However, arbitrary and capricious regu-
lation of nursing homes that leaves them without any avenue to chal-
lenge the agency’s actions violates the procedural due process rights
guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

The Supreme Court’s ruling in I/l. Council upholding the bar to
federal review until presentment to HHS and a final agency ruling,
even if the claims are constitutional in nature, created a fundamental
flaw in the nursing home hearing process. Nursing homes have no
right to a hearing to challenge any finding of noncompliance and even
when granted a hearing there is no meaningful review. The Due Proc-
ess Clause of the Constitution requires HHS to provide nursing homes
a full evidentiary hearing when they are deprived of property. HHS

426 Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v.
Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965)).
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uses these findings of noncompliance to impose fines and deny Medi-
care payments for new admissions on the nursing home in later sur-
veys.*” These actions deprive nursing homes of property, Medicare
payments, and money, with no hearing. These practices also violate
the Medicare Act because they harm the nursing home. HHS is re-
quired under 42 U.S.C. § 1395i-3(g)(5) to report their findings to the
public by posting it on their website. This harms the nursing home’s
reputation. Additionally, HHS uses these findings as the basis of
Medicare fraud and abuse actions. If the survey shows that the nursing
home did not provide care, but still received payment for the care, the
nursing home committed fraud. If a nursing home is found guilty of
fraud, then the facility has to pay HHS back the Medicare payment
. plus three times that amount. This is financial harm. Nursing homes
cannot obtain agency review for these claims and are barred from
federal review.

This abrogation of rights has pushed the industry to near collapse
because not only do alleged violations of Medicare regulations serve
as the basis for Medicaid actions,*?® but also insurance companies use
these findings in determining yearly insurance premiums for nursing
homes.*”® Therefore, procedural due process rights, or lack thereof,
afforded to nursing homes to challenge alleged violations of the
Medicare regulations are paramount to a nursing home’s continued
operation. To comply with the Medicare statute and regulations, HHS
should provide nursing homes with timely full evidentiary hearings
and allow facilities with constitutional challenges, that the agency has
no authority to decide, proceed to federal court. By putting these solu-
tions in place, HHS can streamline the process so that cases are
quickly and fairly resolved, while still protecting the care provided
nursing home residents.

“27 See 42 C.F.R. §§ 488.404, 488.438.

428 See 77 ILL. ADMIN. CODE tit. 77, §§ 300.200(e)(1) & () (2006). See gen-
erally 42 U.S.C.A. § 1395i-3(g)(1)(A) (West 2005).

429 See Anderson, supra note 42, at 21A. Liability insurance rates, tied to
litigation costs and the quality of care, have increased on average 1,000 percent since
1998. Id. .



